Council

Meeting of held on Monday, 28 January 2019 at 6.30 pm in Council Chamber, Town Hall, Katharine Street, Croydon CR0 1NX

MINUTES

Present: Councillor Bernadette Khan (Chair);

Councillors Humayun Kabir, Hamida Ali, Muhammad Ali, Jamie Audsley, Jane Avis, Jeet Bains, Sue Bennett, Margaret Bird, Simon Brew, Alison Butler, Jan Buttinger, Janet Campbell, Robert Canning, Richard Chatterjee, Sherwan Chowdhury, Luke Clancy, Chris Clark, Pat Clouder, Stuart Collins, Mary Croos, Jason Cummings, Patsy Cummings, Nina Degrads, Jerry Fitzpatrick, Sean Fitzsimons, Alisa Flemming, Felicity Flynn, Clive Fraser, Maria Gatland, Lynne Hale, Simon Hall, Patricia Hay-Justice, Simon Hoar, Steve Hollands, Yvette Hopley, Karen Jewitt, Shafi Khan, Stuart King, Toni Letts, Oliver Lewis, Stephen Mann, Stuart Millson, Vidhi Mohan, Michael Neal, Tony Newman, Oni Oviri, Ian Parker, Andrew Pelling, Jason Perry, Helen Pollard, Tim Pollard, Joy Prince, Badsha Quadir, Helen Redfern, Scott Roche, Pat Ryan, Paul Scott, Manju Shahul-Hameed, Niroshan Sirisena, Andy Stranack, Gareth Streeter, Robert Ward, David Wood, Louisa Woodley and Callton Young

Apologies: Councillors Mario Creatura, Maddie Henson and Steve O'Connell

PART A

1/19 Minutes of the Previous Meetings

The minutes of both the Special and Full Council meetings held on Monday 3 December 2018 were accepted as a true and accurate record.

2/19 Disclosure of Interests

There were no declarations of pecuniary interests. Members confirmed their disclosure of interests forms were accurate and up-to-date.

3/19 Urgent Business (if any)

There were no items of urgent business.

4/19 Announcements

Madam Mayor made tribute to Councillor Maggie Mansell whose death was announced earlier in the month. The Councillor's long service to her residents, the Council and her contribution to the Pension Board, Planning Committee, Health and Wellbeing Board and as the Council's Dementia Champion were highlighted. It was also noted that Councillor Mansell was a previous Mayor of the Council.

A minute's silence was held to honour Councillor Mansell lead by Madam Mayor.

Both Councillors Newman, Leader of the Council, and Tim Pollard, Leader of the Conservative Group, were invited by Madam Mayor to make their own tributes.

Councillor Newman described Councillor Mansell as a colleague, friend and one of the family who had been part of the very fabric of the Council. Her contribution to public life through her powerful advocacy for public health and the NHS was highlighted along with her commitment to working for the rights of individuals. She was noted for having offered her support to all new Councillors regardless of their party.

Councillor Pollard remembered Councillor Mansell as a bundle of energy who was passionate about public health. Through serving on the Health and Wellbeing Board she had worked for the betterment of health in Croydon. The Dementia Alliance Award recently received by the Council was testament to her work as Dementia Champion. Councillor Mansell's support for careers and women in science was also highlighted and she was described as having left big shoes to fill and that she had held the respect of all in the Chamber. Councillor Pollard's thoughts were with Councillor Mansell's friends and family.

5/19 Croydon Question Time

Madam Mayor introduced public questions and noted that due to a full agenda and limited time, it would not be possible to take supplementary questions from members of the public. Additionally, those questions submitted in writing by those not able to attend the meeting were to be provided with a written response within three weeks. Those responses were also to be published on the Council's website.

Question: Croydon resident, **Alan Poole** asked a question about the standard of rubbish collections in Rylandes Road, Selsdon, providing the details of the service experienced. He highlighted that despite bins being placed for collection on the correct day it was variable whether or not the collection actually happened. He described how bins had been thrown on the road with rubbish spilt and bins broken. On one occasion, having challenged one of the collection crew, his rubbish was then not collected. Mr Poole went on to detail his experience of the complaints process and having sent 10 emails before receiving a response. The phone had been put down on him

when he called the Council's customer care team. He had then spoken to Councillor Helen Pollard, his ward councillor. He had canvassed his neighbours who had a similar experience of the waste collection service. Finally, it was noted that he still had not received a replacement bin.

In response, **Councillor Collins, Cabinet Member for Clean, Green Croydon**, apologised on behalf of Veolia, the waste contractor. The Councillor requested that further details be provided so that he could look further into the matter. He noted that most other complaints of missed collections had been resolved satisfactorily. He reported that incidents of more than one missed collection were being explored with the Waste Services Manager.

Leader and Cabinet Member questions

Leader

Madam Mayor introduced questions to the Leader of the Council and noted that this item has a time allocation of 15 minutes. She then proceeded to ask a number of Councillors to put their questions to the Leader. They were all invited to ask a supplementary question.

Councillor Tim Pollard noted that the London Borough of Bromley had its Children's Services judged inadequate by Ofsted a year before the same had happened in Croydon. Bromley's Children's Services had been reinspected in November 2018 and had been judged to be good. The Leader was invited to congratulate Bromley on its achievement.

Councillor Newman accepted Councillor Tim Pollard's invitation and confirmed he was always pleased to have the opportunity to congratulate officers for their successes. The Leader went on to congratulate Croydon's own frontline Children's Services workers and noted the positive indicators being achieved in delivering the Council's improvement plan, while highlighting that Bromley's improvement journey was 18 months ahead of the work being done in Croydon.

In a supplementary question, **Councillor Tim Pollard** noted his comparison made between what Bromley was achieving 18 months ago and the recent feedback provided by Ofsted to Croydon's Children's Services. He highlighted the feedback received by Bromley at the same point had been less negative and more positive about the progress being made.

Councillor Newman responded that the Opposition had previously been responsible for Croydon's Children's Services and that his Administration had inherited a lot of issues with the service of which the Opposition would have been aware. He also noted the new inspection regime and that despite Government cuts to local government spending, there had still been a lot of additional investment made into the service which was being turned around.

The Leader noted that he had already apologised in the Council Chamber for it having taken a year longer than it should have done to have realised the extent of the issues inherited in Children's Services.

Councillor Audsley noted the pressures under which local services are operating and asked the Leader how he was working with the Mayor of London to alleviate these issues.

Councillor Newman responded by highlighting the importance of the partnership with City Hall with the priority being to ensure Croydon benefited from sustainable growth and investment. Examples given included the London Living Wage, improvements to transport infrastructure and air quality. The Leader acknowledged that whilst there was a lot happening there was still a long way to go. He highlighted his desire for the Clear Air Zone to be extended and the further electrification of buses. The Leader shared that he wants Croydon to thrive by being a place where people wanted to work and spend their leisure time. He highlighted that this was dependent on working in partnership with other boroughs and City Hall.

In response to **Councillor Audsley's** supplementary question, **Councillor Newman** highlighted the pressures caused by the uncertainty of Brexit. It was noted that the Council was working closely with businesses at this time and called for a General Election. The Leader noted the potential offered by the devolution agenda for locally determined budgets and greater involvement by local people.

Councillor Perry asked the Leader to clarify his comments made last week at the scrutiny committee regarding the Westfield development not starting during this year.

Councillor Newman reported that he had held a positive and constructive meeting with the new owners of Westfield, Unibail-Rodamco. He noted that whilst there was uncertainty in the retail sector that there would always be retail centres that would thrive. He expressed his determination to make Croydon one of these retail successes. The Leader called on Conservative Councillors to get behind the town.

In his supplementary question, **Councillor Perry** stated Conservative Councillors were always behind Croydon and had in fact brought the Westfield development to Croydon which was being delayed by the current Administration despite it offering the potential of 7,000 plus jobs. Councillor Perry noted that Westfield was not mentioned once in the agenda for the Council meeting and that a private meeting in a private office was not a success.

In response, **Councillor Newman** highlighted that there had been lots of public meetings focused on the borough's economic development including the recent summit at Boxpark. The Council's work with the private sector was described as a true partnership and in contrast to the previous Conservative Administration's free market approach.

Councillor Pasty Cummings asked how Croydon would continue to work innovatively with the community to mitigate the effects of current financial constraints.

In response, **Councillor Newman** gave his assurance that as had been the case since the start of his Administration in 2014, with relatively limited powers, all that was possible was being done be done to protect Croydon from the Government's austerity programme and do so by working in partnership with voluntary and business sectors.

Cabinet Member questions

Madam Mayor invited Councillors Collins, Scott and Hall to make their announcements.

Councillor Collins, Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Clean, Green Croydon, reported the successful prosecution of the individual responsible for flytipping over 10 tonnes of waste in Croydon. However, he noted his disappointment that this had resulted in community service rather than a custodial sentence. The Cabinet Member announced that he had approached Veolia, the Council's private waste contractor, to be able to put in place clearing flytips as part of this community service. A letter had been written to the Probation Service making that offer and other boroughs were being encouraged to take the same approach.

Councillor Scott, Cabinet Member for Environment, Transport and Regeneration, reported that a response had been provided to the Government's latest consultation on permitted development rights objecting in the strongest terms. The Cabinet Member highlighted that the Council had been unable to refuse approval for two studios on Russell Road, Purley despite the overall footprint of these being smaller than the minimum recommended size for a bedroom. It was hoped this development would not go ahead and that the Government would scrap its support for such developments.

Councillor Mohan asked why the bin collections of numerous elderly and vulnerable residents with assisted collections had been missed?

In response, **Councillor Collins** highlighted that this was being discussed as part of South London Waste Partnership (SWLP) and noted his disappointment with the service being provided by Veolia. It was highlighted that this was causing the waste service team lots of work with a large number of missed assisted collections having been rectified. Such failures in the service were being discussed with Veolia. Additionally, the contractor was being held to account through the SLWP where similar issues were being experienced across all the boroughs in the partnership. Finally, the Cabinet Member confirmed that the requirements of the contract were being enforced. **Councillor Mohan** thanked the Cabinet Member for his response and asked a supplementary question linking missed assisted collections to a failure of leadership. He highlighted his belief that data on assisted collections had not been successfully transferred to the new contractor. Given that those issues had persisted for longer than the initial 12 week period, the Cabinet Member was asked to clarify the level of fines that had been imposed on the contractor.

Councillor Collins clarified that it was not a matter of imposing fines but rather that payments were withheld. It was noted that the tolerance for the withholding of payments had also declined from 1 in 90,000 to 1 in 30,000 missed collections. The Cabinet Member reported that he had requested full performance statistics to be included on the SLWP agenda. Commitment was made to provide a detailed report to the Council on the level of payments withheld.

Councillor Canning asked for an update on what was being done to continue the fight against flytipping.

Councillor Collins reported how Croydon's investment in covert surveillance was leading to successful prosecutions with 522 Fixed Penalty Notices, 49 Community Protection Notice Warning Letters and 11 prosecutions in the last six months. it was highlighted how the individual who had flytipped 10 tonnes of waste in the borough had been caught red handed. The Cabinet Member took the opportunity to highlight the hard work of enforcement officers.

In his supplementary question, **Councillor Canning** gave thanks to the Cabinet Member for his response and paid tribute to hard working officers. Councillor Canning requested that the 240 hours community service resulting from the recent prosecution for 10 tonnes of flytipping be carried out in Waddon Ward, where the offence had occurred. He also asked the Cabinet Member to clarify how the current level of prosecutions for littering and flytipping compared to that achieved by the previous Conservative Administration.

Councillor Collins responded that during the last eight years of the Conservative Administration, there had been no prosecutions for littering and/or flytipping despite the level of flytipping starting to significantly increase in 2012. He agreed that some of the community service should take place in the community that had been disrespected.

Councillor Jason Cummings noted that the Pension Fund property transfer proposal has been heavily debated in the Pension Committee. He asked if the proposal had been supported by the pensioner representatives on the Committee.

Councillor Hall, **Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources**, agreed the proposal had been heavily debated by the members of the Committee. He emphasised that the objective of the proposal was to secure assets for the pension fund and reduce the Council's payments. Bromley Council was noted as having completed a similar transaction. It was emphasised that due to

Local Government funding being cut by central Government, there was a need to innovate. It was noted that the proposal had been supported by experienced officers, (including the Section 151 Officer), the actuaries to the pension fund and legal advisers.

In his supplementary question, **Councillor Jason Cummings** stated that pensioner representatives on the Pension Committee did not support the property transfer proposal. Councillor Cummings emphasised that the motivation behind the proposal was the benefit to the Council's revenue budget. This was understood by the pensioner representatives. It should not be the responsibility of the pension fund to be concerned about the Council's revenue budget.

In response, **Councillor Hall** stated this was a misrepresentation. The proposal was innovative and would bring benefits to the pension fund and the Council's revenue budget. It was highlighted that the liabilities on the pension fund had a long duration. The example of an 18/19 year old joining the fund was given and how this could result in a liability lasting for another 90 years. However, against this the assets held by the pension fund tended to be short term in duration and that therefore this proposal was about rebalancing the pension fund. It was also emphasised that the actuarial triennial review would determine the assets and liabilities of the fund on which basis adjustments would be made.

Councillor Mann requested that the Cabinet Member for Clean, Green Croydon attend a Crystal Palace Transition Town meeting to learn more about its objectives to become a zero waste area.

Councillor Collins agreed to this request, highlighting the need to focus on reducing, reusing and recycling resources. He noted that a paper would be presented to Cabinet in March 2019 addressing those issues through initiatives such as making water fountains available across the borough and working with traders to reduce plastic packaging. The Cabinet Member noted his desire to work with Crystal Palace and other district centres to trial a range of initiatives before they were rolled out across the whole borough.

In a supplementary question, **Councillor Mann** asked about the feasibility of using dog waste to power street lighting.

Councillor Collins reported this idea had been investigated and that it was not financially viable. Each bio digester unit would cost £5,000 and would require at least 100 bags of dog waste a day in order to generate sufficient energy. The Cabinet Member welcomed the suggestion and expressed his willingness to discuss this again should it become more a feasible option.

Councillor Oviri asked why recycling boxes had been removed from Godstone Road, Purley, highlighting that this was a steep road where is had been agreed wheeled bins were not suitable. Residents in the road had been left without any recycling facilities.

Councillor Collins acknowledged that he had been aware of this situation and had been in conversation with the contractor and waste service team. He reported that the bins had been taken away by mistake and should not have happened. This situation should have been rectified. The Cabinet Member had been in discussion with Veolia regarding the incident to determine if disciplinary action should have been taken against the responsible team. A promise was made to update Councillor Oviri on the outcome of those discussions outside of the meeting.

In her supplementary question, **Councillor Oviri** asked if it was the policy to reduce the quantity of waste collected in the borough by reducing access to recycling facilities.

In response, **Councillor Collins** disagreed that this was the policy; reducing access to recycling would simply increase the quantity of waste going to landfill. The Cabinet Member reiterated that there had been no instruction given to remove the recycling containers in Godstone Road. Rather this was simply a mistake by contractors. It was highlighted that since the new contract had come into place, there had been 3,000 tonnes less waste going into landfill.

Councillor Prince sought clarification regarding the management of construction traffic. She wished to know if whilst using holding places, construction traffic would be required to turn engines off.

Councillor King explained how these holding places were located outside of the immediate town centre area. Permits for use by construction traffic were only issued if the conditions of use were accepted. These include that engines must be turned off when in holding bays. Action can and would be taken if contractors were not compliant. The Cabinet Member offered to share the details of those conditions.

In her supplementary question **Councillor Prince** noted that she would welcome seeing the conditions and highlighted the benefits for air quality and the safety of others resulting from the use of holding places. Councillor Prince asked if a best practice approach by contractors had been encouraged through the procurement process and enquired about the use of the Construction Logistics and Community Safety (CLCS) standard.

Councillor King agreed with Councillor Prince. He noted that whilst HGVs accounted for 4% of all road mileage, those vehicles were responsible for 58% of cyclist fatalities. That made it really important to secure the agreement of contractors to best practice and for that to be in place right across the borough. All major developments required a construction and logistics plan with the Council using the Fleet Operator Recognition Scheme (FORS). This was aligned to the CLCS standard but went beyond its requirement.

Councillor Buttinger highlighted that an elderly and frail resident in her ward, who had previously received assisted bin collections had found that these had stopped once the new waste service came into effect. It had taken eight weeks of emails, the Councillor's involvement, a Stage 1 complaint and the

threat of a solicitor's letter to get this rectified. The Councillor sought to understand why this had taken so long.

In response, **Councillor Collins** stated that all the boroughs in the South London Waste Partnership (SLWP) had passed on the details of existing assisted collections to Veolia and were addressing with Veolia where these collections were not happening. The Cabinet Member noted that crews needed time to get used to their routes and where these included assisted collections. However, it was taking an unacceptable amount of time for this to happen. The importance of continuing to raise those issues direct with the contractor was emphasised.

Madam Mayor invited Councillors Lewis, Flemming and Avis to make their announcements.

Councillor Lewis, Cabinet Member for Culture, Leisure and Sport, informed Council that Croydon had been named as one of the first Cultural Enterprise Zones by the Mayor of London in late 2018. This was supported by £500K of funding that would be doubled through the support that came associated with achieving the status. The Cabinet Member gave his thanks to the officers involved in writing the bid and securing the status.

Councillor Flemming, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and Learning, informed the Members of Council that Rob Henderson and Nick Pendry had respectively started in the key posts of Executive Director of Children, Families and Education and Director of Early Help and Children's Social Care. The Cabinet Member also highlighted that as part of the improvement plan, the Council had three managed teams of social workers. These had been reviewed and it had been established that Croydon had the lowest case load average in London (16). The commitment was made to continue to monitor these to ensure that they did not increase. Tribute was paid to David Butler, Director of Education, who had announced his departure from Croydon. Councillor Flemming gave her personal thanks to the Director and on behalf of parents and children. He was described as having been an asset to the Council which would be poorer without him.

Councillor Avis, Cabinet Member for Families, Health and Social Care, announced Croydon Dementia Action Alliance had awarded the Council its highest accolade of working towards Dementia Friendly status. Additionally, the One Croydon Alliance, integrating health and social care, had been recognised in the LGC Awards. The *Shared Lives* scheme (support for a young person or adult who needs support to live in or be regularly visited by a *Shared Lives* carer) was awarded outstanding by the Care Quality Commission. The Cabinet Member congratulated all the officers concerned.

Councillor Gatland took the opportunity to support the comments made about David Butler and to seek clarification from the Cabinet Member regarding the pace of improvement for Croydon's Children's Services compared to other boroughs. In response, **Councillor Flemming** reiterated that there was no complacency with regard to the improvement of Croydon's Children's Services. The Cabinet Member emphasised that the safety of children in Croydon was of the greatest importance. With regard to ensuring the pace of the improvement journey, caseloads were under control enabling social workers to be on the frontline and ensure safeguarding. The relatively high number of children involved in Croydon compared to other boroughs was highlighted and the complexity of Children's Services in Croydon emphasised. The care being given to Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children was specifically mentioned with the Councillor Flemming noting she was looking forward to meeting with the minister and would be raising issues regarding the lack of funding for those children.

In her supplementary question, **Councillor Gatland** highlighted the importance of leadership and culture and noted how those had both received positive comments in Ofsted's four monitoring reports on Bromley as part of its improvement toward securing a good judgement. The strong commitment from elected members was specifically highlighted. Councillor Gatland acknowledged that progress was being made but questioned if there was still drift and delay and noted high vacancy rates.

Councillor Flemming responded that as she had already informed Council, key appointments had been made. They were crucial to delivering improvement. The importance of listening to staff feedback was emphasised and it was explained that this was being achieved through supervision. Vacancy rates were being monitored with the stability of the Children's Services workforce a key workstream of the improvement plan. The Cabinet Member welcomed Councillor Gatland's recognition of the progress made. In terms of the leadership for Children's Services, Councillor Flemming emphasised that she would be staying in her role and that she was committed to young people and residents and was continuing to listen. The Cabinet Member reported on a recent Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) strategy meeting which had given her the opportunity to listen to parents and young people with SEND including some who had been in the care system. This form of consultation was influencing the care strategy. The high numbers who needed support from Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services was noted along with Councillors lobbying for funding to make this possible.

Councillor Pelling expressed his understanding that the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) would be asked to make a 20% funding cut leading to a further reorganisation.

Councillor Avis agreed that she shared Councillor Pelling's concern. The rumoured 20% cut was thought likely to necessitate a further merger with boroughs that bore no resemblance to Croydon and its healthcare needs. The Cabinet Member noted that this was being discussed with the CCG and the Council's concerns and unhappiness had been clearly expressed.

In his supplementary question, **Councillor Pelling** expressed his additional concern about a further £20m cut to the local NHS to be achieved through demand management or treatment denial. Remote services being delivered by American companies was an example of the privatisation of the NHS and private companies making decisions on who would and would not get treatment.

Councillor Avis responded in agreement and took the opportunity to express her belief in the NHS.

Councillor Parker invited Councillor Flemming to congratulate Croydon's academies for how they were adding value especially for those with additional learning needs.

Councillor Flemming gave her agreement and noted that the new free school in New Addington was going to make a difference for many residents with additional school places being made available in the borough for young people. Its focus on autism and SEND would allow many more young people to be educated in the borough with associated benefits such as better friendship groups. The Cabinet Member highlighted the aim was for the school to work with Croydon College, to provide opportunities for employment supporting young people through into adulthood.

In his supplementary question, **Councillor Parker** asked if the Cabinet Member was going to lobby for the Labour Party to end its opposition to free schools.

In her response, **Councillor Flemming** emphasised that she passionately believes in local schools for local children whatever their needs and that a Labour Government would give back power to local authorities to deliver more school places without all the barriers to delivery that existed. The Cabinet Member emphasised that her focus was on the delivery of places rather than politics.

Councillor Fitzpatrick asked what new opportunities would be brought by the opening of the *Cherry Hub*.

In response, **Councillor Avis** clarified that the *Cherry Hub* was an all age all disability facility which she had recently visited with Councillor Fitzpatrick in his capacity as the Council's Champion for autism. This was described as offering many opportunities for numerous organisations in Croydon. Its holistic approach meant it included a garden centre offering those with learning difficulties employment opportunities.

Councillor Hopley asked about Toldene and Freeman Courts, two care facilities in the direct control of the Council. Councillor Hopley reported that she had visited both facilities recently and had found residents in a dreadful position with no disabled bath facilities, no hot water and overrun gardens. Some residents were described as trapped in their own rooms.

Councillor Avis stated that a review of all care homes had been started last year and that the Council was in the process of taking the management of all homes back in house. Conditions at Freeman Court had been found not to be good. As a result, 150 heaters had been made available whilst the heating was fixed. Whilst facilities did break down, these were being addressed immediately and there was daily communication with residents.

In her supplementary question, **Councillor Hopley** stated this was not good enough and that this situation had been going on for years. It was stated that residents had been emailing the Cabinet Member for some time. It was stressed that residents had reported that they could not keep warm and that with no disabled access they felt trapped. The fan heaters supplied as a temporary measure were insufficient and as a result, residents were sitting in their coats to keep warm. The Councillor asked if the Cabinet Member had visited Freeman Court?

Councillor Avis provided assurance that there was daily communication with Freeman Court, that she knew it personally and that she had received personal assurance that the heating had been fixed. The Cabinet Member said she had visited the facility and would look to address any further issues immediately.

Councillor Fraser requested an update on progress at the Oasis Academy Ryelands in South Norward following it being judged inadequate by Ofsted.

Councillor Flemming reported that the Director of Education and the Head of School Strategy had met with the Regional Oasis Manager and had been assured the Ofsted judgement was being taken seriously; a new substantive Head had been appointed and an improvement plan was in place. Meetings were happening to ensure rapid improvement and it was noted that two new members of staff had been appointed who had previously been school inspectors.

In his supplementary question, **Councillor Fraser** asked if it was more difficult to ensure adequate progress was being made given the school was an Academy and therefore operated at arm's length to the Council.

Councillor Flemming acknowledged that it was her preference for the Council to run its own schools. The Cabinet Member highlighted that the Council understood the needs of residents and young people and would be in a position to provide the required educational provision on a ward by ward basis. However, officers were working with the Academy with very strong links in place in order to oversee and ensure improvements were taking place. It was highlighted that officers had this type of relationship with schools that were at risk of poor Ofsted judgement and not just those that have been put in an improvement category. It was noted that the Director of Education had been working to improve relationships with academies. Regardless of political preferences, the quality of education had to be the priority.

Councillor Bird asked the Cabinet Member why she was not aware of the conditions of residents of Toldene Court, highlighting that residents did not have access to disabled bathing facilities and that they were unable to access medication over the Christmas period.

In response, **Councillor Avis** clarified that she had visited the home last year. The Council had started a review of care home facilities which was not yet complete. The Cabinet Member reported that the showers would be fixed by 30 January 2019. It was also highlighted that a consultation on required facilities had been conducted at Freeman Court. However, this could not be delivered immediately as the available budget had been prioritised for fire safety measures following the Grenfell Tower Fire.

Madam Mayor invited Councillors Butler, Hamida Ali and Shahul-Hameed to make their announcements.

Councillor Butler, Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Homes and Gateway Services, announced that the Council was consulting on the introduction of an Article 4 Direction to come into force from January 2020 which would require planning permission to change multi-bedroom properties into small HMOs (houses occupied by between three and six unrelated individuals). The Cabinet Member asked that Councillors encourage residents' associations in their wards to participate in the consultation which was open until 8 March 2019. Members of Council were also informed that from April 2019 onward, properties that had been empty for two years would no longer receive any Council Tax discount and would have to make payment in full. The Cabinet Member commented that the Council would like legislation to support them in going further to penalise properties that were kept empty.

Councillor Hamida Ali, Cabinet Member for Safer Croydon and Communities, highlighted the civic event that had taken place to mark Holocaust Memorial Day. Importantly, this had been used to engage Croydon students who had participated through a writing competition with a *torn from home* theme. The event had featured personal testimony from those who had survived genocide in Rwanda and Auschwitz-Birkenau. It was noted that those testimonies had highlighted how extreme forms of violence had started with discrimination. The Cabinet Member thanked the young people who participated and council staff for the success of the event. The Council was congratulated for the achievement of being just one place short of the top 100 Stonewall employers, having jumped up the index by 120 places. Credit was paid to the Council and the allies network for this success.

Councillor Shahul-Hameed, Cabinet Member for Economy and Jobs, informed Council of a recent consultation event on the borough's economic future and strategy. This had a high turnout with members of the public and stakeholders attending.

Councillor Hale noted the \pounds 3.5 billion funding given by central Government to the Mayor of London to boost home building with \pounds 61million coming to Croydon. Councillor Hale asked the Cabinet Member to clarify the number of

new homes this would be used to build, where these would be located and when they would be ready.

Councillor Butler responded that this would be used to build approximately 888 new homes. However, this was a grant towards the cost and would not pay for the development in full. Whilst some of those new homes were already in the pipeline, others were not fully planned as yet and others were being identified for development. Those homes were to be spread across the borough for the benefit of residents.

In her supplementary question, **Councillor Hale** requested that **Councillor Butler** confirm that all those new homes would be subject to the provisions of the *Right to Buy* policy. **Councillor Butler** stated that she was unable to confirm this.

Councillor Degrads congratulated the Cabinet Member for consulting on the Article 4 Direction which would require planning permission to change multibedroom properties into small HMOs. **Councillor Butler** emphasised the importance of those proposed changes and noted her disappointment that due to legislation this could not be immediately introduced. The Cabinet Member highlighted that the Local Plan had recognised the need for family homes across the borough and therefore there was a need to stop splitting properties into HMOs and flats. Where this was happening was due to permitted development. It was stressed that the proposed change would have a difference across the borough but especially in the North.

Councillor Chatterjee sought to understand if there was likely to be any further delay in the delivery of new homes developed by *Brick by Brick*.

Councillor Butler highlighted that she met many people involved in new home development and had received congratulations on the speed of development being achieved by *Brick by Brick*. It was noted that some developments were seeking planning permission whilst others were close to delivery. The Cabinet Member explained that much learning was being done during this ongoing process to allow for faster delivery of developments in the future.

In his supplementary question, **Councillor Chatterjee** sought to understand if those new homes would solely be for Croydon residents. **Councillor Butler** confirmed that this would be the case and explained it was the stated policy of *Brick by Brick* that Croydon residents would get the first opportunity with preference on proximity. This policy was to be applied across all classes of homes including affordable and shared ownership with allocation based on the Council's waiting list.

Councillor Jewitt congratulated Crystal Palace Football Club for opening its facilities to the homeless and thanked the other agencies involved in homelessness support throughout the year.

Councillor Butler agreed that this had been a fantastic development and gave thanks to the Council's Gateway Team and specifically, Julia Pitt, Director of Gateway Services, for putting this arrangement in place. This had helped raise the profile of the support that was needed and provided. The Cabinet Member also thanked Croydon Churches for its support in offering cold weather shelters. The Housing First initiative was also highlighted and how this sought to get the most vulnerable people off the streets by prioritising housing provision. The first five individuals were already benefitting from the initiative and this was to increase to 20. The Council had also commissioned a mental health outreach worker which was highlighted as important given the nature of the issues being faced by those living on the street. An employment and accommodation service for migrants was also being piloted which sought to find work and re-establish links with the country of origin. This was providing 12 weeks of accommodation to support migrants back into work. Intensive employment work was being provided for those in temporary accommodation which aimed to sustain employment.

In her supplementary question, **Councillor Jewitt** suggested the Council's partnerships with different organisations shouldn't be needed given the Government had stated it would eradicate rough sleeping.

Councillor Butler acknowledged that some funding was being provided by the Government to address rough sleeping but that this was nowhere near enough. The Cabinet Member stated that this was why the numbers of rough sleepers were continuing to increase. The link between changes to housing benefit and welfare reform for single people and rough sleeper numbers was emphasised. Councillor Butler questioned if austerity was really over.

Councillor Brew asked for clarification from **Councillor Hamida Ali** regarding her lack of response to his emails requesting the use of CCTV on Russell Hill Place Purley to address a drug use problem.

Councillor Hamida Ali gave her apologies and stated that the issue would be on the agenda for the next meeting of the Joint Agency Group which was to take place on Thursday 31 January 2019. The Cabinet Member highlighted that it was the remit of this multi-agency forum to look in turn at each area and respective issues including incidents of anti-social behaviour.

In his supplementary question, **Councillor Brew** noted that he had raised these issues previously and was disappointed they hadn't been addressed before. Councillor Brew suggested that drug issues outside the centre of the borough were not a priority.

Councillor Hameed Ali highlighted that the issue raised had been placed on the agenda for the next meeting and that it was for the Safer Neighbourhood Teams to use all available resources to address the issues as known. All Members were encouraged to come forward with known issues so that these could be escalated and addressed quickly. **Councillor Hay-Justice** requested further information on the Council's apprenticeship programme including demand, period taken to complete apprenticeships and the resulting qualifications gained.

In response, **Councillor Shahul-Hameed** noted the Council's apprenticeship programme had been launched in October 2017 with just two apprenticeships and this had grown to 40 apprentices working at the Council. Expressions of interest to have apprentices had been requested from managers. Demand was high with 60% of requests coming from managers who had never previously had apprentices. A campaign was underway to achieve 100 apprenticeships in 100 days. Work with partners was highlighted including with colleges and employers. The level of qualification achieved was noted as variable ranging from Level 2 up to Level 4. Therefore, the length of the apprenticeship varied accordingly from 12 months to three years. Other sectors were being explored to offer apprenticeships. For example, the health and social care sector and the feasibility of offering degree level apprenticeships.

Councillor Bains asked for clarification regarding the new London Plan housing target which set an annualised target of 3,000 new homes to be built in Croydon every year for the next decade. This was described as unfair and undeliverable given that it was higher than the target for neighbouring boroughs.

Councillor Butler recognised the need for a variety of new homes right across the borough and that there was a need to strive to respond to housing needs. The opposition at the Planning Committee from Conservative Councillors to proposed developments was highlighted. Whilst the Administration was responsible for setting housing targets in the local plan, the Mayor of London was asking Councils to go further. The Cabinet Member highlighted that the Administration would go above and beyond to ensure all residents had a home.

In his supplementary question, **Councillor Bains** asked for clarification as to why Croydon had not lodged representations to the Mayor of London stating that the new targets were not deliverable or sustainable.

In response **Councillor Butler** highlighted that the Council would always strive to meet housing needs whether or not it had sufficient resources. The Cabinet Member explained that the Council wanted to serve its residents. Therefore, it was for the Council to act as a voice for the 2,000 households in temporary accommodation.

Councillor Clouder congratulated the Administration and the Cabinet Member on establishing a social letting agency and asked for an update on the progress of the initiative.

Councillor Butler highlighted the social letting agency as an important piece work aimed at better preventing homelessness. Whilst this mostly benefitted the families involved there was also a financial advantage for the Council. The Cabinet Member explained that there was a difference between the level of

market rents and housing benefit. This was a huge issue and the highest cause of eviction from private rented accommodation. The social letting agency had been working with landlords to ensure tenancies could be sustained. Wrap around support was offered to vulnerable residents and assurances offered to landlords. The agency was working with 70 landlords and had secured a local housing allowance. On average, 15 to 20 residents a month were placed that would have otherwise presented as homeless. Madam Mayor thanked all for their contributions during Croydon Question Time.

6/19 **Member Petitions**

There were two Member petitions presented.

Councillor Parker, Member for Coulsdon Town Ward, stood and read his petition out: Post Office Dangerous Crossing: I have started this petition to put forward a safer crossing in front of the Coulsdon Post Office. I feel crossing here with my children is extremely dangerous and feel the drivers car more than often jump the lights and not abide the speed limit. Please sign this petition to help make Coulsdon a little safer for everyone.

Madam Mayor invited Councillor King to respond. Councillor King, Cabinet Member for Environment, Transport and Regeneration (Job-Share) thanked Councillor Parker and the petition signatories. The Cabinet Member noted that improvements had been make to the junction in 2012/2013. However, the then policy of *Transport for London* had prevented a signalised all red-phase on the basis that this was thought likely to cause queuing traffic at the junction. However, it was thought that the approach of the Mayor of London had changed and as a result officers had been asked to request an all red-phase. It was hoped that this would get cross party support with the role of Councillor O'Connell as a member of the London Assembly Transport Committee noted.

Councillor Tim Pollard, Member for Sanderstead Ward, stood and read his petition out: We, the undersigned residents of Balfont Close, Sanderstead CR2 9LL, request that 'wheels up' parking be permitted to enable this narrow road to be more easily accessed by its residents and larger vehicles.

Balfont Close is a short cul de sac of 12 houses. Whilst residents park with consideration to other users, occasional vehicle parking by tradesmen, delivery drivers and local visitors can often mean the width available when cars park opposite each other is insufficient to allow anything other than very small cars to pass. Service vehicles such as Recycling & Refuse collection Lorries sometimes have to work from the end of the road as they are unable to get down, and on one occasion an Ambulance suffered from restricted access.

Permission to park 'wheels up' will relieve this problem, and the residents of Balfont Close are in unanimous agreement. We respectfully request the general parking restriction of not having wheels on the pavement is lifted." Hope prove uncontentious.

Madam Mayor invited Councillor King to respond. Councillor King thanked Councillor Pollard and the petition signatories. The Cabinet Member noted both the narrow carriage and pavements and that all the dwellings in Balfont Close had off street parking for one or more vehicle. Due to the narrowness of the footways it would not be possible to permit wheels up parking. This was contrary to the provisions of the Disability Discrimination Act and would prevent the safe use of pavements. It would be possible to use yellow lines to restrict parking to one side of the carriageway and therefore to safeguard access to Balfont Close. Councillor Pollard was asked to ascertain if residents would support this proposal.

7/19 Maiden Speeches

Madam Mayor invited Councillors Parker, Croos, Millson, Fraser and Hoar to make their Maiden Speeches, having been newly elected on 23 May 2018.

Councillor Parker, Member for Coulsdon Town Ward, gave his Maiden Speech. He paid tribute to the other candidates in the ward including those who had stood in opposition to him. Specific mention was made of Charlie King with thanks given for all he had done for the town. Councillor Bains, who had previously been a Councillor in Coulson Town Ward, was also mentioned along with his victory in own ward. Councillor Parker referenced his late father who had been a Labour Party Member and Unionist who he thought would be appalled by today's Labour Party. The party's record on antisemitism, affordable housing, flytipping and recycling rates were all cited. The Administration was accused of riding rough shod over residents. Increase in Member allowances whilst care for vulnerable residents was decreasing was highlighted.

In response, Councillor Butler invited Councillor Parker to undertake a visit of *Brick by Brick* sites.

Councillor Croos, Member for Fairfield Ward, gave her Maiden Speech highlighting she was pleased by her win for three reasons; first, Labour had won the seat from the Conservative Party; second, this had meant Labour had achieved a clean sweep in the ward as the party that speaks for the many and not the few; and finally, that she had lived in the ward for 17 years and was a proud part of the community. Councillor Croos emphasised that Croydon was at a crossroads in becoming an economic powerhouse based on its retail offer and economic development. Croydon was a fantastic place to live, work and play; the Administration was transforming the ward for the better after years of neglect. Whilst never easy the progress all round was noted. This was becoming a reality through initiatives such as the new Westfield shopping centre which would offer jobs and other opportunities. Councillor Croos gave her thanks to her Labour colleagues for all the team work that had enabled her to win seat. She stressed the need for all Members to work together for the benefit of residents.

Councillor Millson, Member for Selsdon Vale and Forestdale Ward, gave his Maiden Speech and highlighted that it was a great honour to represent the ward. Whilst his ward was seen to bridge two distinct communities, it was noted that they were linked by Selsdon woods. Councillor Millson gave his thanks to the Friends group that helped to maintain this. It was noted that many residents had moved to Croydon from elsewhere in London and from around the world with many motivated by their aspiration to own a home and garden. This was an aspiration that the Council shared with its residents and which needed to be supported. Councillor Millson noted that his mother was also a Councillor for the Liberal Democrat Party. He wanted to achieve what was best for Croydon and best for residents, and where Labour and Conservative Members agreed, there should be no barrier to working together. The example of the five previous representatives of the ward was highlighted. Councillors Bashford, Cummings, Thomas, and both the Meads were referenced with special mention going to Phil Thomas and his reputation for standing up for his residents. Councillor Millson expressed his willingness to work with the Administration in the best interests of residents. However, this offer would not remain open if the Administration was to come between him and his residents.

Councillor Fraser, Member for South Norwood, gave his Maiden Speech. Councillor Fraser noted that he was a returning Member following a break of some 16 years. Councillor Fraser highlighted his pride in the cooperation which was supporting the Administration to be successful. The cooperation between Councillors Butler and Scott to achieve affordable housing was highlighted. Councillors Flemming and Hall were mentioned for having found the additional resources needed to deliver improvements in Children's Services. Reference was made to Bevan and the language of priorities in socialism. Councillor Fraser highlighted the importance of Members of the Council cooperating as colleagues.

Councillor Hoar, Member for Purley Oaks and Riddlesdown, gave his Maiden Speech. He noted that he too had previously been a Member but was now a Councillor for a completely new ward that hadn't previously existed. Councillor Hoar described his great pleasure to live in and represent the ward which included five residents' associations, three train stations and three tennis clubs. Its growing community was increasingly focused on and prioritising green space protection. As a result, the development of new homes in the ward was a concern. Developers were seen as changing the nature of the area through their developments. Councillor Hoar stated that word had got out that the Council was too weak to stand-up to developers.

Madam Mayor noted that all those who were newly elected in May 2018 had made their Maiden Speeches.

8/19 **Constitutional Changes - Members' Scheme of Allowances**

The amendment to the Scheme of Members' of Allowances to establish a Parental Leave Policy, as part of Council's Constitution, was proposed by Councillor Newman. The Leader noted his great pride in the initiative and thanked all those involved in its development. The amendments were seconded by Councillor Tim Pollard.

RESOLVED: Council resolved to agree the amendment to the Scheme of Members' Allowances to provide maternity, adoption, shared parental, paternity and sickness leave as detailed in the report and as appended in full at Appendix 1.

9/19 Pension Committee: London Borough of Croydon Pension Fund Property Transfer Proposal

Councillor Hall expressed his delight in proposing the transfer of property, highlighting the benefit this would provide to the pension fund.

RESOLVED: Council resolved to the break in the leases in 40 years, subject to all linked outstanding debt having been cleared, to transfer the 346 homes leased to Croydon Affordable Homes LLP and Croydon Affordable Tenures via an additional lease to the London Borough of Croydon Pension Fund, or any successor body, via a Pension Fund nominee company as part of meeting the Council's liability to the Pension Fund as a scheme employer.

10/19 Appointment of Interim Chief Finance and Section 151 Officer and Interim Executive Director of Resources

Councillor Newman proposed and Councillor Tim Pollard seconded the recommendations as set out in the report.

RESOLVED: Council resolved that subject to the appointment notification process as set out in Section 3.4 of Part 4J of the Council's Constitution (Staff Employment Procedure Rules):

- The resignation of Richard Simpson from his role as the Council's Executive Director of Resources and Chief Finance Officer and Section 151 Officer be noted;
- 2. The appointment by the Chief Executive under delegated authority of Lisa Taylor to the statutory post of Chief Finance and Section 151 Officer on an interim basis for a period of up to 6 months from 1 February 2019 be noted;
- 3. The extension of the appointment of Lisa Taylor to the statutory post of Chief Finance and Section 151 Officer on an interim basis for a period beyond 6 months be agreed should this be necessary pending recruitment to the role of Chief Finance and Section 151 Officer on a permanent basis;
- The appointment by the Chief Executive under delegated authority of Jacqueline Harris Baker to the post of interim Executive Director of Resources on an interim basis for a period of up to 6 months from 1 February 2019 be noted;

- 5. The extension of the appointment of Jacqueline Harris Baker to the post of interim Executive Director of Resources for a period beyond 6 months be agreed should this be necessary pending recruitment to the role of Executive Director of Resources on a permanent basis;
- 6. To note that Jacqueline Harris Baker will retain her current functions as Council Solicitor and Monitoring Officer; and
- 7. To delegate authority to the Council Solicitor and Monitoring Officer to make all necessary consequential changes to the Constitution arising from these interim appointments.

Madam Mayor led the Members of Council in congratulating Jacqueline Harris Baker and Lisa Taylor on their appointments.

11/19 Annual Report: Health and Wellbeing Board

Madam Mayor invited Councillor Woodley, in her capacity as Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board, to introduce its annual report to Council.

Councillor Woodley opened by paying tribute to Councillor Mansell who was described as an active and tenacious member of the Board who had been its Chair from 2014 until 2017. Councillor Mansell's championing of dementia was specifically noted; this was a subject on which Councillor Mansell had been passionate and committed. Her attendance at every Dementia Alliance meeting was highlighted.

Returning to the subject of the Board itself, Councillor Woodley explained this had been reconstituted in 2017 to focus on reducing health inequality and increasing prevention and integration. Health and social care integration was specifically described as going from strength to such strength that targets were being exceeded. The Council and the local NHS were developing a plan for health and social care which would be published in July 2019. It was noted that an engagement event to support the development of the strategy had been held in November 2019 which had attracted 166 attendees.

Councillor Woodley also noted the focus on mental health service provision and the importance of local planning; a young people's mental health strategy was in the final stages of development.

Councillor Hopley requested to know what Councillor Woodley considered her greatest achievement in the role of Chair of the Board.

In response, Councillor Woodley acknowledged the work of Councillors Hopley and Bird as members of the Board, their having been instrumental in working toward the Council's Dementia Friendly status. The Councillor described how since being appointed, she had lead on the review of the Board's constitution, put in place a workshop on children and young people's mental health service provision and looked at the mismatch of services and how this might be generating longer waiting lists. The contribution of partners to get this work right was stressed. In her supplementary question, Councillor Hopley noted how she was looking forward to working with Councillor Woodley on the Board and asked if the voluntary sector would be better represented on the Board. Councillor Hopley stressed that the Board only had one voluntary sector member. She recommended an increase to ensure a more open and transparent view from the voluntary sector was made available to the Board.

In response, Councillor Woodley noted that the Board already had 27 members and expressed her concern that any further increase would start to undermine its effectiveness. She explained that her strategy was to bring in additional contributions as these were needed through the use of evidence gathering sessions. The Board would invite appropriate contributors to attend or engage with the Board for example, through workshops.

Councillor Campbell asked what progress has been made to improve services to support young people's emotional wellbeing.

Councillor Woodley explained that a workshop on children and adolescent mental health and emotional wellbeing had been held in December 2018. Thanks were given to Councillor Campbell and her daughter for their support, the experience of accessing mental health services by Councillor Campbell's daughter had informed the workshop. It was noted that there was a shared determination amongst Cabinet Members to end the mismatch between demand for and provision of children and adolescent mental health and emotional wellbeing services. It was noted that schools were continuing to highlight the difficulties they faced in accessing services. Councillor Woodley explained the Board would focus on ensuring services were joined up and were filling the gaps with funding being used effectively.

12/19 **Council Debate Motions**

Madam Mayor requested the Chief Executive read the first Council Debate Motion made on behalf of the Administration: *This council regrets the continuing uncertainty for Croydon residents, workers and employers arising from the government's inability to deliver a Brexit deal that will leave this country better off.*

This council laments the wasted years of government chaos since the EU referendum in June 2016, and resolves to continue to seek to mitigate the worst effects of that government incompetence by continuing to work closely with the business community to invest in our borough and our people, and to send a clear message that Croydon is, and will remain, open.

Madam Mayor invited Councillor Wood to propose the motion.

Councillor Wood stated that it had been 949 days since the Brexit vote took place and that this was enough time to plan for the Brexit. However, with 64 days until the UK's exit from the EU, there was no greater clarity on the terms of this departure. Further, the lack of understanding of those politicians who had supported and who were responsible for delivering it was noted. Councillor Wood therefore stated that the current situation did not come as a surprise. The impact this was having was noted: for example, medicines were being stockpiled, the negative effect on GDP, rising unemployment, increased costs of food and electricity. This was described as resulting from the incompetence of the Government which was acting in its own narrow selfinterest. It was called on to rule out a no deal exit. Those that had created this situation were described as being inoculated from what they had created. Councillor Wood moved the motion saying it was based on what the Administration wanted to achieve for Croydon's future.

Councillor Shalul-Hameed seconded the motion and reserved her right to speak.

Councillor Jason Cummings was invited by Madam Mayor to speak.

In response, Councillor Jason Cummings spoke against the motion and noted the hypocrisy of the Labour Party. The efforts being made to get a deal were highlighted and the Administration was called on to support those endeavours. Brexit may be criticised but it was still supported by the British public. In truth it was only the Conservative Party that was putting a solution forward.

Councillor Tim Pollard was then invited to speak by Madam Mayor.

Councillor Tim Pollard also spoke against the motion highlighting that Brexit was the biggest issue facing the country during all our lifetimes; the country was at a crossroads in seeking to deliver what the people had voted for. Councillor Tim Pollard called on all to work together in the national interest to deliver the commitments made by both parties in the 2017 General Election. The Councillor called on this to not be about making cheap political points and reminded Council that the Labour Party had voted in favour of holding the referendum and that its current sitting MPs had all been elected on a manifesto supporting the outcome of the referendum. Similarly, its MPs had voted for Article 50. Councillor Tim Pollard called the motion pointless. He recommended that Administration Councillors should send a message to its Party's MPs to come together to get a deal that could be supported. The need to stop playing party politics to act in the interests of the country was stressed.

Councillor Shahul-Hameed exercised her right to speak and noted that Brexit was like any divorce – it takes a long time because it was serious and takes effort. The resulting uncertainty was putting jobs at risk because it was impacting on investment and spending. This was evidenced through the downturn in retail confidence. Councillor Shahul-Hameed highlighted a recent company survey that showed they had not experienced this level of difficulty in finding staff since the 1980s. Based on her recent consultation with local SMEs, it was highlighted that there was concern about the possible impact on interest rates and tariffs on imports. The administration shared the objective of local businesses in seeking to be tolerant, diverse and open but there was a

concern that not all would be able to futureproof themselves from Brexit. As a result there was a need to avoid a disorderly Brexit and therefore she supported the motion.

The motion was put to the vote and carried.

Madam Mayor then requested the Chief Executive read the Opposition motion: *Elderly, disabled and vulnerable residents have been neglected and treated appallingly by this administration.* We ask that this administration *provides:*

- A modern in-house respite facility to replace the service provision closed at Heatherway and the failed outsourcing of respite care which was supposed to replace it
- A completely refurbished facility at Toldene for those residents who haven't had a functioning bathroom or kitchen for 8 months
- Domiciliary care and support services that are fit for purpose and don't leave residents with safeguarding issues
- A cross-party Member Inspection Panel to visit all council run facilities and ensure they are providing services that are fit for purpose.

Madam Mayor invited Councillor Hopley to propose the motion.

Councillor Hopley expressed her concern about the worrying state of affairs brought to her attention by residents of some of the Council's care facilities. These were some of the Council's most vulnerable residents some of whom were completely reliant on care. The Council was asked to immediately address the loss of provision with the closure of the Heatherway facility. Similarly, the Council was requested to address conditions at the Toldene home. This was Council run and had no disabled bath or kitchen facilities for eight months. Councillor Hopley requested an explanation as to why this situation had been left unaddressed for so long and emphasised that the facility must be fit for purpose. The lack of heating and hot water at Freeman Court was also raised. It was reported that residents were sitting wearing heavy winter jackets inside the home. Residents at this facility also had no disabled access to the gardens and these were overgrown. Councillor Hopley asked to understand why these homes were not being monitored. It was also stressed that residents were to be penalised further with Meals on Wheels being taken away and charges about to be levied for other services. Councillor Hopley called for a cross party inspection panel to look further into these matters.

Councillor Streeter seconded the motion and reserved his right to speak.

Councillor Avis was invited by Madam Mayor to speak and opposed the motion. She emphasised the Labour Party's opposition in 2011 to the privatisation of these facilities to Care UK and that the Administration was looking to take this provision back in house. Heatherway had been closed because it was not fit for purpose. Structural underfunding was highlighted along with the impact of the Government's austerity policy and the further

exacerbation of Brexit. The Administration's ability to provide successful facilities was highlighted with the awarding of Dementia Friendly status, the development of the Cherry Hub, Fieldway, Croydon Solutions, and Calleydown referenced.

Madam Mayor called on Councillor Campbell to speak who highlighted that since being elected last May she has seen up close the work of staff and officers to overcome poverty and crime caused by the Government's policies. Councillor Campbell had attended resident visits, multiagency meetings, safeguarding meetings and those of the life team which was aimed at stopping hospital returns. She commended the hard work of dedicated officers.

Councillor Streeter then exercised his right to speak emphasising that the motion was raising some serious issues. It was trying to protect vulnerable residents. Councillor Streeter accused the Administration, through its opposition to the motion, of abdicating its responsibility and seeking to distract from local failure. The consultation on plans to raise charges on vulnerable residents was stressed. Whilst the need to balance books was understood this had to be the wrong decision especially when the Council had managed to find funding for an arts programme that had been judged by many to have been indecent. Councillor Streeter called on backbenchers to use their influence to stop charges being placed on vulnerable residents.

The motion was put to the vote and fell.

13/19 **Recommendations of Cabinet or Committees to Council for decision**

The recommendation from the Ethics Committee held on 18 October 2018 was proposed by Councillor Fraser and seconded by Councillor Clouder, respectively the Chair and Vice Chair of the Ethics Committee. The recommendation was put to the vote and carried.

RESOLVED: Council approved the amendment of the Assessment Criteria for reviewing complaints against Councillors as set out in Appendix 1 of the report

The recommendations from Cabinet held on 21 January 2019 regarding the Education Estates Strategy and Admissions Arrangements for 2020/21 were proposed by Councillor Newman, seconded by Councillor Flemming and put to the vote and carried.

RESOLVED: The Council approved the proposed changes to the admission arrangements for the 2020/21 academic year:

- i. Acceptance of first preference offers as part of the coordinated admission arrangements;
- ii. Pan-London primary and secondary coordinated admissions schemes and post offer process (main rounds of admissions); and
- iii. The processing of overseas applications for admission to school within the normal admissions rounds (excluding Crown servants).

- iv. To approve the proposed Community schools Admission Arrangements for the 2020/21 academic year (Appendix 2b):
- v. Adoption of the proposed Pan London scheme for co-ordination of admissions to Reception and Junior schools (Appendix 2c); and
- vi. Adoption of the proposed Pan London scheme for co-ordination of admissions to secondary schools (Appendix 2d).

Madam Mayor closed the meeting with a reminder to all Councillors to complete their online governance survey by 31 January 2019.

14/19 Exclusion of the Press and Public

This item was not required.

The meeting ended at 9.48 pm

Signed:

Date: